2003

Linda R. Acosta v. Salt Lake Regional Medical Center and Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., American Manufacturers Mutual Ins., Sentry Insurance, and Workers Compensation Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to hear Ms. Acosta's appeal because the Labor Commission has not decided all of the issues requiring resolution, namely, Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(c). This Court also has jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the Labor Commission has errorronously interpreted or applied the law in denying Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim. Id. at § 16(4)(d). Finally, this Court also has jurisdiction to hear Ms. Acosta's appeal because the Labor Commission has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision making process or has failed to follow prescribed procedure, to the extent it has determined as a matter of Labor Commission policy that occupational disease claims must be filed simultaneously with industrial accident claims when they apply to the same employer. Id. at § 16(4)(e).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue in this case is whether an unlitigated claim for occupational disease, which arose under a separate statute, based on previously unlitigated material facts, and which was filed within the appropriate statute of limitations, was erroneously dismissed under the judicial doctrine of res judicata.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should review the Labor Commission's Order under a correction of error standard because it is a question of general law and the agency's decision making or procedure. *Questar Pipeline Co. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 817 P.2d 316 (Utah 1991). In that case, the Supreme Court stated that under UAPA, "agency determinations of general law . . . are to be reviewed under a correction of error standard, giving no deference to the agency's decision." *Id.* at 317. This Court should give no deference to the Labor Commission's decision because it is simply the agency's interpretation of general law.

PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-3-101, et. seq., "The Utah Occupational Disease Act," or the "UODA."

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-101, et. seq., "The Utah Workers' Compensation Act," or the "UWCA."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner/Appellant, Ms. Linda Ms. Acosta, worked for Salt Lake Regional Medical Center ("SLRMC") for approximately eighteen years from December, 1980 through December, 1998. On approximately December 20, 1998, Ms.

Acosta was lifting a baby out of an isolet to hand to its mother, when she experienced sudden, severe low back pain. Ms. Acosta filed an Application for Hearing with the Labor Commission for workers compensation benefits arising out of the December, 1998 industrial accident. The medical evidence adduced during the proceeding demonstrated that Ms. Acosta likely had pre-existing degenerative changes before her December 20, 1998 lifting event, although her low back was asymptomatic. At a hearing, the ALJ found that Ms. Acosta sustained an accident under a cumulative trauma theory of industrial accident.

On appeal, the Labor Commission determined that because the cumulative trauma theory had not been plead, that the ALJ was barred from raising it sua sponte as a theory of recovery. The Labor Commission also held that Ms. Acosta was subject to the heightened standard of legal causation because she had an asymptomatic pre-existing condition. On appeal to this Court, this Court affirmed that the higher standard of causation applied to Ms. Acosta, and upheld the Commission's denial of compensation for industrial accident.

On approximately August, 2002, Ms. Acosta filed a new Application for Hearing alleging injury by occupational disease under the Utah Occupational

Disease Act.¹ Ms. Acosta alleged different material facts than she plead in her industrial accident Application. She also alleged that those activities occurred over her eighteen years of employment with SLRMC. SLRMC filed a Motion to Dismiss Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim, and the ALJ granted its Motion.

Petitioner appealed her denial of occupational disease claim to the Labor Commission, and the Commission denied Ms. Acosta's Motion for Review. The Commission held that Ms. Acosta's claims were barred by the claim preclusion branch of the doctrine of *res judicata*. The Commission also held that applying the doctrine of claim preclusion served important public objectives that were (apparently) more important than liberally construing the Act in favor of providing compensation to injured workers. Ms. Acosta now appeals from the Labor Commission's Order Denying her Motion for Review.

¹ Ms. Acosta also alleged injury by accident under a cumulative trauma claim. Ms. Acosta later elected not to pursue that claim, and it is not before this Court.

FACTS

1. On or around 3/26/99, Petitioner filed an Application for Hearing for an industrial injury, she experienced at Salt Lake Regional Hospital on 12/20/98. The Application stated **“I was lifting a baby out of an isolet to hand it to it’s mother.”** See, Industrial Accident Application for Hearing, (Aplt App. at 1).
2. On 2/25/99, Dr. Fotheringham examined Ms. Acosta on behalf of Respondents. Dr. Fotheringham stated that her 12/20/98 work injury “caused her current work symptoms,” but noted that Ms. Acosta had significant pre-existing degeneration that contributed to her problems. MRE at 55 (Aplt App. at 29).
3. On 3/5/99, Dr. Robert Hood opined that Ms. Acosta had no prior history of low back problems until her 12/20/98 work injury, and that Ms. Acosta had significant pre-existing stenosis that contributed to her problems. MRE at 58-9 (Aplt App. at 14-15).
4. On 10/22/99, the ALJ entered his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order awarding Workers Compensation benefits.
5. On 11/17/99, Respondents filed a Motion for Review with the Labor

Commission.

6. On 1/31/00, the Labor Commission issued a Order Granting Respondents Motion for Review, and reversed the ALJ's award of benefits to Petitioner.
7. Petitioner appealed the Commission's Order to the Court of Appeals.
8. The Court of Appeals upheld the Labor Commission's denial of benefits. The Utah Supreme Court denied Petitioner's request for writ of certiorari.
9. On or around 8/26/02, Ms. Acosta filed a new Application for Hearing alleging injury by occupational disease. Ms. Acosta alleged that she was **"lifting babies, assisting patients with activities of living, picking items up from the floor, and other activities."** Ms. Acosta also alleged that this occurred over eighteen years of work with Respondents, from approximately 12/80 to 12/20/98. See, Application for Hearing, Occupational Disease (Aplt App at 9).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the Labor Commission and remand Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim for a hearing on the merits. The Labor Commission errorously applied the doctrine of claimed preclusion to bar Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim, because it believed that the Workers Compensation Act, and the Occupational Disease Act created only a single cause of action. Res judicata not only bars prelitigation of previously litigated claims, that arose from the same material facts. Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim was not subject to claimed preclusion because it had not been litigated, and did arise from the same material facts as her industrial accident. Utah law has always recognized that occupational disease claims are different from industrial accident claims. The Labor Commission treated these separate Acts as a single cause of action, and wrongly held that Ms. Acosta should have filed her occupational disease claim along with her industrial accident claim. Neither Act required Acosta to simultaneously file her claims. The Labor Commission collapsed the dual requirements under the *Macris & Associates* case into a single requirement, contrary to establish law. The Labor Commission admitted plain legal error when

it upheld the dismissal of Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim. Also, public policy favors treating the Acts separately, and to liberally construe Ms. Acosta's facts in favor of finding compensation.

ARGUMENT

MS. ACOSTA’S OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE CLAIM WAS A DIFFERENT CLAIM FROM HER INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT CLAIM BECAUSE IT AROSE FROM A SEPARATE STATUTES WITH DIFFERENT REQUIREMENTS AND DIFFERENT COMPENSATION PAYABLE, AND THEREFORE WAS NOT BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF CLAIM PRECLUSION.

This Court should find that Ms. Acosta’s occupational disease claim is not barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion because her occupational disease claim was a different unlitigated claim from her industrial accident claim. The Labor Commission failed to recognize that occupational disease claims and industrial accidents arise from different statutes, with different requirements. The Commissions’s failure to recognize the differences between the two claims led it to erroneously apply the doctrine of res judicata to bar Ms. Acosta’s claims.

Both the occupational disease act and the workers compensation act are statutory creations, and neither statute required injured workers to simultaneously file disease and accident claims against the same employer. Nor did claim preclusion bar Ms. Acosta’s occupational disease claim because her claim did not arise out of the “same transaction or occurrence” as her industrial accident. To the contrary, Ms. Acosta’s occupational disease claim arose under a separate statute with different material facts. Claim preclusion does not bar previously unlitigated

claims that arose under different statutes with different material facts. Therefore, this Court should remand Ms. Acosta's case to the Labor Commission for a hearing on the merits.

A. Res Judicata Only Bars Relitigation of Previously Litigated Claims Arising Out of the Same Material Facts.

Generally, res judicata is judicially created doctrine that bars litigants from presenting the same claims or issues more than once. When applicable, the doctrine may bar either previously litigated claims or issues:

Although the term "res judicata" is often used to describe the overall doctrine of preclusion, a distinction should properly be made between that branch of the doctrine which precludes the relitigation of previously decided claims, called either res judicata or claim preclusion, and that branch which precludes the relitigation of previously decided issues, known as either collateral estoppel.²

In this case, the Commission concluded that Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim was barred by res judicata or claim preclusion,³ and denied her occupational disease claim without a hearing on its merits.

² Career Serv. Rev. Bd. v. Dept. of Corr., 942 P.2D 936, 938 n.2 (citing Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369, 1374 n. 5 (Utah 1988)).

³ Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Applications for Hearing, at 3, Appellate App. at 33.

B. Ms. Acosta's Occupational Disease Claim Was Not Barred Because The Claim Preclusion Requirements Were Not Satisfied.

Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim may proceed because her case did not satisfy the claim preclusion requirements. The Utah Supreme Court recently articulated the three claim preclusion requirements:

First, both cases must involve the same parties or their privies. **Second, the claim that is alleged to be barred must have been presented in the first suit or must be one that could and should have been raised in the first action.** Third, the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits.

Macris & Assoc. v. Neways, Inc., 2000 UT 93, 16 P.3d 1214 (emphasis added).

The second requirement is also known as the "same claim" requirement. The "same claim" requirement can be satisfied in one of two ways: 1) by presenting the claim in the first hearing; or 2) if the claim "must" be one that both *could* have been raised, and *should* have been raised in the first hearing. Ms. Acosta did not present an occupational disease claim at the first hearing, therefore, her claim may only be barred now if she both "could have" and "should have" been raised at the first hearing. Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim may proceed unless Appellees can demonstrate that her claims met the "same claim" requirement.

C. Occupational Disease Claims Have Always Been Recognized As Different From Industrial Accident Claims, And Are Not the “Same Claim.”

Utah law has always recognized that occupational disease claims and industrial accident claims are wholly different claims. After passing the UWCA in 1917, injuries from industrial accidents were no longer governed by common law. Instead, industrial accident claims were the exclusive remedy for all accidental injuries between employees and their employers. Utah Courts recognized that only industrial accident claims were covered under the Act. In contrast, occupational disease claims were still common law claims that had to be brought in district court; the Industrial Commission had no jurisdiction over occupational disease claims. *See, e.g., Young v. Salt Lake City*, 97 Utah 123, 90 P.2d 174 (Utah 1939) (holding lead poisoning from inhaling vaporized paint was occupational disease, thereby depriving Industrial Commission of jurisdiction over common law claim.)

After the Utah legislature created the Utah Occupational Disease Act (“UODA”) in 1943, however, common law occupational disease claims ceased to exist. *See, e.g., Masich v. United States Smelting, Refining & Mining Co.*, 113 Utah 101, 191 P.2d 612 (Utah 1948) (holding common law occupational disease

claims abrogated by statutory occupational disease claims under UODA). History shows that even before occupational disease claims were codified in 1943, Utah law always recognized that occupational disease claims were different from industrial accident claims. Occupational disease claims have never been considered the “same claims” as industrial accident claims.

D. Ms. Acosta Had No Duty To Simultaneously File Different Claims Where Different Statutes Gave Rise To Different Causes Of Action.

Ms. Acosta had no duty to file her occupational disease claim when she filed her industrial accident claim. There is no duty to simultaneously bring different claims that arise under different statutes. For example, in *SMP v. Kirkland, Inc.*, 843 P.2d 531, 533 (Utah App. 1992), the doctrine of res judicata did not bar an employee from filing a later contractual offset claim arising under different statute. This Court reasoned that because “the claim adjudicated before the Industrial Commission was Kirkman’s [claim for back wages] [while] [t]he claim adjudicated by the circuit court was SMP’s [contractual offset claim]. It is readily apparent that the claims were not identical.” *Id.* at 533. The claims were not identical because they arose under separate statutes with different requirements. Similarly, this Court should permit Ms. Acosta to bring her

occupational disease claim separately because it arose under a different statute with different requirements.

Other courts have looked to the meaning and purpose of the statute in permitting separate statutory causes of action to proceed in different cases. For example, in *Tipler v. E.I. duPont deNemours and Co.*, 443 F. 2d 125 (1971), an employee who litigated a wrongful termination claim was not barred from bringing a later claim that alleged discharge for discrimination, because the second claim arose under a different statute. The court reasoned that the separate statutes that prevented wrongful termination and discrimination were separate causes of action with separate requirements that served distinct and important public purposes. *Id.* It is well settled that claims arising under separate statutes need not be filed simultaneously where each statute requires separate material facts to state a claim.

The same is true for Ms. Acosta: her separate occupational disease claim that arose out of a different statute and under different material facts was not barred by res judicata. In other words, the legislature has chosen to separate industrial accident claims and occupational disease claims, creating different requirements and different compensation for each cause of action; the Labor

Commission may not simply ignore the Legislature's decisions, and treat both Acts as giving rise to a single cause of action.

E. Neither Statute Required Injured Workers To Simultaneously File Occupational Disease Claims And Industrial Accident Claims.

Neither the Occupational Disease Act,⁴ nor the Workers' Compensation Act⁵ required injured workers to simultaneously bring both occupational disease and industrial accident claims. It is well settled that both Acts are governed by the language of their statutes, and the Commission is bound by the language contained in the Acts. The language of the Acts demonstrate that the legislature intended to keep the actions separate.

The legislature has determined that industrial accidents occur at a discrete time and place, while occupational diseases occur gradually over time, such as

⁴ See generally, Utah Occupational Disease Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 34A-3-101 to 112.

⁵ See generally, Utah Workers' Compensation Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 34A-2-101, et. seq.

silicosis⁶ and asbestosis.⁷ The reporting requirements are different for industrial accidents and occupational diseases.⁸ Employer liability requirements are different for occupational diseases than industrial accidents.⁹ Benefits are statutorily apportioned for occupational diseases,¹⁰ but not for industrial accident claims. Occupational disease and industrial accident claims are disjunctive claims, and can not arise from the same material facts. Applicants are specifically barred from recovering for both industrial accident and occupational disease claims.¹¹ The statute bars one set of operative facts from giving rise to an injury that is both occupational disease and an industrial accident. Finally, neither act requires that injured workers simultaneously file occupational disease claims with industrial accident claims. Given the legislature's efforts to maintain separate requirements

⁶ See, e.g., Kennecott Copper Corp. v. Industrial Comm'n, 115 Utah 451, 205 P.2d 541 (1949).

⁷ See, e.g., Tisco Intermountain & State Ins. Fund v. Industrial Comm'n, 744 P.2d 1340 (Utah 1987).

⁸ Compare Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-407 with § 34A-3-108.

⁹ Utah Code Ann. § 34A-3-105.

¹⁰ Utah Code Ann. § 34A-3-110.

¹¹ Utah Code Ann. § 34-A-3-110(3).

and benefits for each type of claim, there was no statutory support for the Commission's conclusion that Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim could have and should have been raised in her first application for hearing.

F. The Labor Commission's "Practices and Customs" Of Filing Alternative Claims Were Permissive, And Not Mandatory, And Did Not Justify Ms. Acosta's Dismissal On The Merits.

The Labor Commission's application for hearing forms did not permit alternative pleading when Ms. Acosta filed her first application. Ms. Acosta's application for hearing ("Form 001") was for "industrial accidents" only, not occupational diseases. Aplt. App. at 1. On its face, Form 001 did not permit injured workers to make alternative claims.¹² The Commission nonetheless argued that it had a "custom and practice" of permitting injured workers to make alternative claims for diseases and accidents.¹³ Order at 3. Aplt. App. at 117. But even if there was an unarticulated practice of letting injured workers maintain alternative claims, it did not justify mandatory dismissal when Ms. Acosta filed

¹² In July, 2001, over a year and a half after Ms. Acosta's first filing, the Commission revised its Form 001 to permit both industrial accidents and occupational diseases to be simultaneously plead. Aplt. App. at 9.

¹³ Apparently, this custom would only be available to those injured workers who knew they should ignore the restrictions on the Commission's forms.

her claim separately. The Commission's own forms did not permit alternative pleading, and there was no notice that failure to make alternative arguments would result in dismissal on the merits. There was no such requirement in the statutes or in the Commission's own rules, nor was it found on the Commission's own forms.

G. Contrary to Utah Law, The Commission's Decision Erroneously Collapsed The "Could Have" and "Should Have" Requirements Into A Single "Could Have" Requirement.

The Commission erroneously concluded that Ms. Acosta "should have" filed her occupational disease claim simply because she "could have" filed it earlier. Although the case law required the Commission to demonstrate that Ms. Acosta both "could have" and "should have" filed her occupational disease claim to later bar the claim under a claim preclusion theory, the Commission collapsed its analysis to a single "could have" requirement:

In this case, Ms. Acosta had the opportunity in the first adjudicative proceeding to present all theories she believed supported her claim for benefits. She is not entitled to pursue her claim for benefits "through piecemeal litigation, offering one theory to the court while holding others in reserve."

Order at 3. Aplt. App. at 117. In other words, because she "could have" raised her occupational disease claim earlier, she should have done so.

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