2003

Linda R. Acosta v. Salt Lake Regional Medical Center and/or Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., and, the Utah Labor Commission : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The primary issue in this case is whether the Commission erred in ruling that Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim is barred by the doctrine of res judicata. Respondents agree with the Commission that the elements necessary to invoke this defense apply. The occupational disease claim involves the same parties. Moreover, the first action resulted in a final judgment on the merits. Most significantly, the theories raised in the subsequent action, although not presented in the first action, involve the same claim, and constitute a claim that could have and should have been raised in the first action. This Court should affirm the evaluation and analysis of the Commission in this case.

In the event that this Court finds the doctrine of res judicata inapplicable, the Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim is still barred by the notice provisions of section 34A-2-407 and 34A-3-108, U.C.A.. Under this circumstance, remand to the Commission would be the appropriate remedy.

ARGUMENT

THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA BARS MS. ACOSTA'S OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE CLAIM

A. The Elements of Res Judicata Are Satisfied

Ms. Acosta advances several challenges to the Commission's res judicata evaluation. Respondents submit that the Commission appropriately dismissed Ms. Acosta's occupational disease claim under this legal doctrine.

The Utah Supreme Court has delineated the requirements for the application of claim preclusion as follows:

{19} The doctrine of res judicata embraces two distinct branches: claim preclusion and issue preclusion. Claim preclusion involves the same parties or their privies and also the same cause of action, "and this precludes the relitigation of all issues that could have been litigated as well as those that were, in fact, litigated in the prior action." . . .

{20} In order for claim preclusion to bar a subsequent cause of action, a plaintiff must satisfy three requirements:

First, both cases must involve the same parties or their privies. Second, the claim that is alleged to be barred must have been presented in the first suit or must be one that could and should have been raised in the first action. Third, the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits.

Macris & Assoc. v. Neways, Inc., 2000 UT 93, ¶¶19-20, 16 P.3d 1214.

The parties do not dispute that the first requirement of this doctrine (same parties) and the third element (final judgment on the merits) are satisfied. Indeed, both cases involve the same parties, and the first action resulted in a final judgment, following several appeals, on the merits. The issue in this case surrounds the second element of this doctrine, i.e., whether the claim presented in the subsequent action and adjudicated in the ensuing proceeding are the same claim presented in the first action and, even if it was not presented in the first action, whether it could have and should have been presented in the earlier proceeding. See State in the Interest of J.J.T., 877 P.2d 161, 164 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

With regard to the first part of the second requirement, there is no question that the occupational disease claim was not “presented in the first suit.” It was not alleged in the first action by Ms. Acosta. Rather, the legal issues to be decided are: (1) whether the occupational disease claim is the “same claim” as that raised in the first action; (2) whether the occupational disease claim is one that “*could have* been raised” in the first action; and, (3) whether the occupational disease claim is one that “*should have* been raised” in the first action. If each of these are answered in the affirmative, Ms. Acosta’s additional claim is barred under the doctrine of res judicata.

1. The Former and Subsequent Action Raise the Same Claim.

The “same claim” requirement has been addressed in numerous appellate court cases. Utah’s Courts have stated that the claim, demand, or cause of action in the present suit must be identical to the one brought in the prior suit. See Macris, 2000 UT 93, ¶19; Schaer v. State, 657 P.2d 1337, 1340-41 (Utah 1983).

In defining the term “cause of action” the Utah Supreme Court has focused on the identity of facts and evidence. Moreover, Utah’s Courts have held that claims that are based upon the same subject matter but different legal theories constitute the “same claim” for purposes of res judicata. For instance, in Macris, the Court defined “cause of action” as follows:

In identifying whether claims are identical for res judicata purposes, this court has focused on whether “the two causes of action rest on a different state of facts and evidence of a different kind or character is necessary to sustain the two causes of action.” Therefore, even if a plaintiff is aware of the factual basis of a suit at the filing of another suit, he or she is not obligated to bring all claims together if there is no identity of facts and evidence between two claims.

Macris at ¶27.

Similarly, in Gossner v. Dairymen Assocs., 611 P.2d 713 (Utah 1980) the Supreme Court stated:

A precise definition of “cause of action” as it relates to res judicata has never been agreed on. With the abandonment of

strict common law pleading and the move to broader, permissive pleading rules, the scope of a given cause of action has been expanded in order to perpetuate the underlying purpose of the doctrine -- to regard as resolved all matters which were or could have been raised. It is often said that both disputes must relate to the same subject matter, and draw on the same underlying factual questions and evidentiary foundation. Where the foregoing are present, it is generally regarded as inconsequential that the respective claims are different as to form or theory of recovery.

Id. at 719. (J. Hall Dissenting)

The Utah's Court of Appeals recently held that Utah law looks to "the aggregate of operative facts, . . . the situation or state of facts which entitles a party to sustain an action' to determine whether two suits stem from the same cause of action." See Massey, 2004 UT App n.4. (citation omitted); American Estate Management v. International Inv. & Dev. Corp., 1999 UT App 232, ¶¶9-11, 986 P.2d 765.

In American Estate, like the present action, the plaintiff originally claimed title based upon one legal theory -- breach of contract. He later claimed title based upon another legal theory -- adverse possession. The Court stated that these two actions raise the same claim, although under two different legal guises. See id. at ¶11.

Ms. Acosta's most recent occupational disease claim meets the same claim requirement. Like the first action, the present s claim relates to the

same subject matter or legal right -- Ms. Acosta's entitlement to workers' compensation medical and disability benefits as a part of her work at Salt Lake Regional (i.e., Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-410 et seq.). Like the first action, the present claim entails the same injury to her low back and requests entitlement to the identical medical expenses for the same low back condition¹. Although the occupational disease claim alleges exposure from December 1980 to December 20, 1998, this new theory alleges injury during the same basic period of employment --December 20, 1998.²

¹ See Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills, U.S.A., 520 S.E.2d 815 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). In Rogers, the court focused on whether the claims alleged the same injury. Because they did not, res judicata was denied.

² In his treatise, Friedenthal notes that, under the same evidence test, it is not necessary that the evidence be absolutely identical, but merely that a substantial part of the facts be proved under each claim to be the same. See Friedenthal, Kane and Miller, Civil Procedure § 14.4, at 646 (3d ed. 1999). That treatise indicates that "a transaction or series of closely connected transactions is the basic unit of litigation, regardless of the variations in the legal theories, primary rights, grounds, evidence or requested remedies." Modern trends show courts applying a same-transaction test, looking to "a natural grouping or common nucleus of operative facts". Id. Friedenthal notes that such a test comports with federal courts and in those states that have adopted comparable rules.

Friedenthal notes that "when a single injury can be traced to several wrongful acts, there is still only one cause of action. This is similar to the rule that a change in legal theory will not justify bringing a new action; each ground for relief must be presented in the original lawsuit." If a claimant argues that there were two causes of action, they "must show both that the separate acts were responsible for the alleged injuries and that the injuries themselves are distinguishable." Id. at 652-53.

Critically, Ms. Acosta claims that her back condition was asymptomatic prior to December 20, 1998. Thus, there was no cause of action for Ms. Acosta to assert – either cumulative trauma or occupational disease – until the occurrence of the events of December 20, 1998, events which have been previously litigated all the way to the Utah Supreme Court. See Weishaar v. Snap On Tools, 582 N.W.2d 177 (Iowa 1998) (noting that subsequently filed application alleging distinctly different injury dates of September 1987 and October 1988 did not constitute same claim as the April 29, 1986 event). Like the first action, the claim arises out of the same employment relationship and the same employment duties -- Ms. Acosta's nursing work at Salt Lake Regional. Like the first action, the present claim relies upon the same medical records and involves the same set of material facts. Moreover, the present claim centers upon the same evidentiary foundation, would require calling the same witnesses, would require similar proofs, and would be heard simultaneously at the same hearing with the same ALJ.

Ms. Acosta emphasizes that because the occupational disease claim and the former industrial accident claim are governed by two separate statutes, with different reporting requirements, apportionment requirements, and different elements for relief, etc., they fail to meet the

“same claim” requirement.³ There is no doubt that one of these new claims (the occupational disease claim) is governed in large part by the Occupational Disease Act. However, the occupational disease claim, like the other claim, is governed by the Worker’s Compensation Act. See Utah Code Ann. § 34A-3-102 (noting workers’ compensation act is incorporated into the occupational disease act). Moreover, these claims are governed by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act, Utah Administrative Code, and Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Such is not the case as noted by Professor Larson in his well-known treatise where the standards of proof in these cases are entirely different. See Arthur Larson, *Larson’s Worker’s Compensation Law*, §127.07[7] (2003) (I.e., legal issues in workers’ compensation proceeding are distinct from ones brought in Title VII action for sexual harassment; standards for determining employee status in workers’ compensation are different than those in tort civil suit). Both statutes, (section 34A-3-103 and section 34A-

³ Ms. Acosta’s reliance on SMP v. Kirkland, Inc., 843 P.2d 531 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) is misplaced. In that case, the Court held that res judicata did not bar the second action since the Commission did not have jurisdiction to decide that claim – which happened to be a contract matter. The fact that the claims arose from different statutes with different requirements was not a relevant consideration in the Court’s analysis. In other words, the contract action “could not have been brought” in that tribunal, so res judicata did not apply. Accordingly, her citation to this authority is inapposite.

2-401) require the same basic elementary proof -- that the injury or disease “arise out of and in the course of employment” as well as proof of medical and legal causation. They have the same “preponderance of evidence” standard. They both define employee status similarly and rely upon the same threshold case law (i.e., Allen v. Industrial Comm’n). Therefore, contrary to Ms. Acosta’s assertion, the degrees of proof are not sufficiently different to prohibit the same claim requirement.

The Restatement (Second) of Judgments §§ 24cmt. B (1982) states on this point:

Among the factors relevant to a determination whether the facts are so woven together as to constitute a single claim are their relatedness in time, space, origin, or motivation, and whether, taken together, they form a convenient unit for trial purposes. Though no single factor is determinative, the relevance of trial convenience makes it appropriate to ask how far the witnesses or proofs in the second action would tend to overlap the witnesses or proofs relevant to the first. If there is a substantial overlap, the second action should ordinarily be held to [be] precluded. But the opposite does not hold true; even when there is not a substantial overlap, the second action may be precluded if it stems from the same transaction or series.

Id. Utah’s Tenth Circuit has adopted the Restatement’s “transactional” approach in assessing the identity of claims. See Massey, 2004 UT app 27, ¶11 (noting Utah’s federal law approach is similar to Utah state law approach).

Moreover, Utah’s appellate courts have noted disfavor against

fragmented litigation. For instance, in American Estate the Court held that “a claimant may not pursue a claim . . . through piecemeal litigation, offering one legal theory to the court while holding others in reserve for future litigation should the first prove unsuccessful.” American Estate 1999 UT App 232, ¶14. In Wheadon v. Pearson, 376 P.2d 946 (Utah 1962), the Supreme Court similarly held that:

In such case the courts hold that parties should litigate their entire claim, demand and cause of action, and every part, issue and ground thereof, and if one of the parties fails to raise any point or issue or to litigate any part of his claim, demand or cause of action and the matter goes to final judgment, such party may not again litigate that claim, demand or cause of action or any issue, point or part thereof which he could have but failed to litigate in the former action.

. . . .

Policy would seem to indicate that when a plaintiff has once attempted to obtain his entire relief, based upon his entire claim, then the matter should be laid at rest. He should be denied a second attempt at substantially the same objective under a different guise.

Id. at 947-48. In Wheadon, the Court held that the claimant could not adjudicate his right to a right-of-way under a prescriptive easement theory in the first action and later claim the theory of implied easement in the second action.

The well-known hornbook by Friedenthal, Kane and Miller also subscribes to this position. It provides that res judicata is divided into two sections, “merger” and “bar”.

Merger applies when a claimant has prevailed; bar applies when the claimant has lost. When a claimant wins a judgment, all possible grounds for the cause of action are said to be merged into the judgment and are not available for further litigation. A party who loses the first suit is said to be barred by the adverse judgment from ever raising the same cause of action again, even if he can present new grounds for recovery.

. . . .

Prior litigation ends litigation, not only 'as to every ground of recovery that was actually presented in the action, but also as to every ground which might have been presented.' . . . The preclusive breadth of the doctrine means that a judgment concludes the entire cause of action, which may encompass separate component claims.

Friedenthal, Kane and Miller, Civil Procedure § 14.1, 14.3, at 627, 635 (3d ed. 1999).

Because Ms. Acosta's later claim litigates the same subject matter as the first action, simply under a different theory of relief, *res judicata* applies.

2. Ms. Acosta "Could Have" Raised the Occupational Disease Claim in the First Action.

The Labor Commission was also correct in concluding that Ms. Acosta's subsequent claim is one that "could have" been raised in the first action. The Commission stated on this point:

Commission practice and custom allow injured workers to claim benefits under alternative theories of accidental injury and occupational disease. Thus, Ms. Acosta "could have" raised her occupational disease [and cumulative trauma] claim in the earlier proceeding.

R. at 141.

Section 34A-2-801 of the Utah Code provides that an employee may contest the compensability of an industrial accident or occupational disease by filing an Application for Hearing with the Division of Adjudication of the Utah Labor Commission. See Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-801. Rule 602-2-1 of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act also provides:

adjudicative proceedings for worker's compensation and occupational disease claims may be commenced by the injured worker or dependent filing a request for agency action with the Commission.

Utah Admin. Proc. Act R601-2-1.A.(2002). Moreover, Rule 18 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that a party may join “either as independent or as alternative claims as many claims either legal or equitable or both as he may have against the opposing party.” Utah R. Civ. P. 18.

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